

## **Evaluating Complexity**

A Chronic Disease Prevention Evaluation Guidebook for Ontario's Public Health Units

CDP-EvaLL Southwestern Public Health March 2021

## **Authors**

#### Laura Gibbs, MSc, MPH, CE

Manager, Strategic Initiatives and Emergency Response Planning | Southwestern Public Health Chair | Ontario Public Health Evaluation Network

#### Stephanie Gee, MA

Advisor, Program Evaluation | Region of Peel – Public Health Vice-Chair | Ontario Public Health Evaluation Network

#### Melanie Fournier, MPH

Program Planning and Evaluation Officer | Ottawa Public Health

#### Danielle Hunter, MSc

Manager, Planning, Evaluation & Communication Services | North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit

### **Acknowledgements**

The CDP-EvaLL project is funded by the Ontario Ministry of Health. The products were completed by Southwestern Public Health in partnership with the Ontario Public Health Evaluation Network. The Propel Centre for Population Health Impact provided leadership to the CDP-EvaLL project in its early stages. The evaluation cartoons used throughout the document are created by Chris Lysy at www.freshspectrum.com and used under a Creative Commons License (Attribution-NonCommercial (CC BY-NC)).

#### How to cite this document:

Gibbs L, Gee S, Fournier M, Hunter D. Evaluating complexity: a chronic disease prevention evaluation guidebook for Ontario's public health units. St. Thomas, ON: Southwestern Public Health; 2021.

## Contents

Introduction	1
Purpose of this Guidebook	1
Who Should Use this Guidebook?	2
How to Use this Guidebook	2
Speaking the Same Language: Key Definitions	3
Starting Off Right: Plan Robust Programs and Interventions	6
Evaluative Thinking from the Start	6
Program and Intervention Theory	9
Target Population, Target Audience and Priority Population	15
Indicators of Success	18
Making Sure You're Ready: Assess Evaluability	20
Should You Evaluate?	20
Can You Evaluate?	22
Choosing the Path Forward: Design a Rigorous Evaluation	25
Components of an Evaluation Plan	25
Engaging Stakeholders	26
Articulating the Evaluation Purpose and Questions	26
Choosing an Evaluation Approach	29
The Evaluation Matrix	30
Data Collection and Analysis Protocols	33
Ethics	37
Collecting and Analyzing the Information: Do Evaluation	41
Following the Plan	41
Being Adaptable	41
Making Conclusions and Recommendations	42
Spreading the Word: Use Evaluation	46
Engaging Evaluation Users	46
Knowledge Translation Plans	48
Conclusion	50
Glossary	51
References	55

## Introduction

Chronic disease prevention is complex. It involves several partners, systems and sectors collaborating to stop something from happening in the *future*. Because the work you do now may not pay off for decades, it's hard to tell if you're doing the right things and if you're doing them well. To help Ontario public health units and the professionals who work in them navigate these challenges, CDP-EvaLL was created. CDP-EvaLL is a provincial capacity-building initiative that aims to improve the knowledge and skills of public health professionals in Ontario to conduct and use evaluations of chronic disease prevention programs and interventions.

This Guidebook is just one component of CDP-EvaLL. The initiative also includes a repository of tools, templates and resources to help you apply the concepts in the Guidebook and e-learning modules that provide in-depth opportunities to explore particular concepts. You can learn more about CDP-EvaLL and find all the products at www.ophen.ca/cdp-evall.

## Purpose of this Guidebook

Although this Guidebook was created to help public health professionals in Ontario evaluate chronic disease prevention programs and interventions, we have a confession to make: we can't really tell you how to evaluate something. Each evaluation is unique and there is no "one-size-fits-all" approach. Instead, this Guidebook provides an overview of the process of designing and conducting an evaluation that meets your unique needs and context. The Guidebook describes the important concepts you need to think about in chronic disease prevention evaluations. It provides suggestions for how to address complexity and ambiguity without being prescriptive. Think of it like a map, rather than a set of directions: it is not meant to be a "how-to" manual or a step-by-step guide, but it gives you a picture of what you can expect and a sense of direction.

## Who Should Use this Guidebook?

This Guidebook is meant for public health professionals in Ontario interested in evaluating a chronic disease prevention program or intervention, or people who want to apply the findings of an evaluation to improve a chronic disease prevention program or intervention. Previous experience with evaluation is always helpful, but it's not necessary.

## How to Use this Guidebook

This Guidebook is divided into six sections:

- 1. Speaking the Same Language: Key Definitions
- 2. Starting Off Right: Plan Robust Programs and Interventions
- 3. Making Sure You're Ready: Assess Evaluability
- 4. Choosing the Path Forward: Design a Rigorous Evaluation
- 5. Collecting and Analyzing the Information: Do Evaluation
- 6. Spreading the Word: Use Evaluation

Each section gives an overview of what you need to accomplish or consider and the unique challenges you may experience when evaluating chronic disease prevention programs and interventions. Although each evaluation is unique, to ensure evaluations conducted in Ontario public health units are rigorous, we need to know the minimum requirements for that step to be done well. These minimum standards ensure your chronic disease prevention evaluation is set up for success. Within each section, you will see Quality Standards boxes (see example below) that describe these minimum requirements. A glossary of terms is also included for all **bolded** terms found in this Guidebook.

Quality Standard



Example of a quality standard.

## Speaking the Same Language: Key Definitions

To make sure we're all speaking the same language, we need to start by defining key terms that will help you understand the scope of this Guidebook. We'll continue to define terms throughout the Guidebook but these terms are ones you need to know before you can get started.

The first set of terms define evaluation concepts. **Evaluation** "is the systematic assessment of the design, implementation or results of an initiative for the purposes of learning or decision-



making."<sup>1</sup> There are different types of evaluation, each with a different focus. This Guidebook will focus on three broad categories of evaluation: formative, process and summative. **Formative evaluations** focus on the design or re-design of an initiative.<sup>2</sup> **Process evaluations** assess how an initiative is implemented.<sup>3</sup> **Summative evaluations** assess

whether the initiative achieved its intended outcomes and the initiative's value.<sup>4</sup> Summative evaluations are often the hardest to employ for chronic disease prevention programs and interventions.

The next set of terms define the work of public health units in Ontario. In the definition of evaluation, we used the term "initiative" to broadly describe work being evaluated. In public health and chronic disease prevention, the terms programs, services, interventions and activities are often used interchangeably to describe the different types of initiatives. In fact, they are different concepts that are arranged in a hierarchy (Figure 1).

 Activities are at the bottom of the hierarchy. They are specific applications of health promotion strategies, such as education, supplementation, community mobilization and environmental redesign. Activities can change as milestones are achieved or new groups are targeted.

- Interventions are groups of planned activities linked together by theory<sup>5</sup> and supported by evidence to produce individual- and community-level changes in a target population. In contrast to activities, interventions are consistent for years because they require a long duration to be successful.
- A **program** is a group of interventions linked together through theory and supported by evidence to produce a population-level change in a population health or public health issue. Programs only change when population and public health concerns change (e.g., the emergence of vaping or legislation changes making alcohol more accessible).

#### Figure 1. Hierarchy of Work in an Abbreviated Healthy Eating Program



Each type of work can be evaluated, but this Guidebook will focus on evaluations of *programs* and *interventions*.

The final set of terms define the components of programs and interventions that are essential to designing an evaluation plan. Each program and its interventions need to have a goal, objectives, outputs and outcomes. The **goal** is the high-level change (or long-term outcome) that the program will achieve<sup>6</sup> through the execution of its interventions. **Objectives** identify specific population or public health changes among target populations that, when taken together, will lead to the achievement of the program's goal.<sup>5</sup> Each intervention has at least one

objective and all interventions in a program have a common goal. **Outputs** are tangible things produced by your activities.<sup>7</sup> Outputs, such as the number of people reached by your intervention and the percent of activities completed, tell you if you have done the work you set out to do. Because activities can change throughout the course of an intervention, outputs can be updated as milestones are achieved. **Outcomes** are the incremental changes in attitudes, knowledge, skills, behaviours, environments and policies<sup>8</sup> that lead to the achievement of your objectives. Short-, medium- and long-term outcomes should be outlined at the beginning of a program and stay relatively constant throughout the life of the intervention. Figure 2 illustrates how these concepts fit within the Healthy Eating example from Figure 1.

## Figure 2. Goal, Objectives, Outputs and Outcomes for an Abbreviated Healthy Eating Program



In the following sections, we'll use these terms as we discuss important concepts in chronic disease prevention evaluations.

## Starting Off Right: Plan Robust Programs and Interventions

This section is the longest in the Guidebook – and that's for good reason: good evaluation starts with good planning. If it's not clear what your program is trying to achieve and how it will achieve it, you will have difficulty determining if the program is doing what it's supposed to do. In this section, we introduce a way of thinking to support evaluation, describe program and intervention theory, and identify key groups in which your programs or interventions may produce outcomes.

## Evaluative Thinking from the Start

**Evaluative thinking** is "critical thinking applied in the context of evaluation, motivated by an attitude of inquisitiveness and a belief in the value of evidence, that involves identifying assumptions, posing thoughtful questions, pursuing deeper understanding through reflection and perspective taking, and informing decisions in preparation for action."<sup>9</sup> Engaging in evaluative thinking enables you to plan more robust programs and interventions because it helps you think through: why you are implementing a program or intervention, why you are doing what you plan to do and what the likely effects of your actions are.

Evaluative thinking throughout the lifecycle of a program or intervention also improves the rigor and utility of your formal evaluation activities. To think evaluatively, you need to combine four types of thinking into your decision-making processes: critical thinking, creative thinking, inferential thinking and practical thinking (Figure 3).<sup>10(p.21)</sup> As you work through the rest of this Guidebook, employ evaluative thinking in these four ways to help you complete each section or step.

When you think critically, you figure out what is behind your understanding, why you have that understanding and how it impacts your decisions.<sup>10</sup> In these ways, critical thinking is similar to applying a health equity lens or developing cultural humility.<sup>11</sup> You also seek out people who think differently and situations that don't align with your understanding when you think critically.<sup>10</sup> Critical thinking applied to planning chronic disease prevention programs and interventions means examining and confronting your assumptions and predispositions<sup>10</sup> about

#### Figure 3. Components of Evaluative Thinking



primary prevention, behaviour change, chronic disease development and risk, among other things. For example, if you were to think critically about obesity, you might ask:

- What are the different causes of obesity?
- Can a person with obesity also be healthy?
- How are obesity and chronic diseases related?
- By designing a program that targets people with obesity, are you perpetuating weight bias or stigma?<sup>12</sup>

Creative thinking means you approach problems from different angles, become more comfortable with ambiguity and try to find links between seemingly disparate things.<sup>10</sup> In chronic disease prevention, creative thinking is essential to: design programs and interventions that stand out among the multiple demands for your target audience's attention; change the complex and established social, cultural, economic and political systems that affect the success of interventions; and help your target populations make sense of competing pressures to be healthy and socially engaged. For example, your target population may wonder why public health tells them to go outside on their lunch breaks and be active, while also telling them to prevent exposure to the sun's ultraviolet radiation in the middle of the day. They may also feel

pressure from media messages that promote tanned bodies as "beautiful." How can you help them reconcile these competing messages? Creative thinking will help you design effective strategies to overcome these competing pressures and ideals.

Inferential thinking requires "fierce examination of and allegiance to wherever the evidence leads."<sup>10(p.23)</sup> This evidence comes from many sources<sup>13</sup> and its validity or trustworthiness must be considered in its examination.<sup>10</sup> Inferential thinking can be both technically and emotionally difficult. On the technical side, research evidence about chronic disease prevention interventions can be ambiguous, limited and/or of low quality. As a public health practitioner, you need to critically appraise the best available evidence and use your professional judgment



to make sound decisions. You also need to acknowledge that as you learn more, you will likely need to revise or change the strategies you initially thought would work. Emotional attachment to a program, intervention, audience or population can make it hard for you to accept that what you plan to do or are currently doing may not be the best way to achieve your objectives. Truly inferential thinkers examine, accept and cope with emotional

discomfort while following the evidence. As the practice of vaping has emerged in the last 10 years, our understanding of its relative risks compared to smoking tobacco has changed. We need to be ready and willing to admit that the programs and interventions we planned then might not be what we need today.

Practical thinking ensures you stay in touch with the "real" world. When you think practically about chronic disease prevention programs and interventions, you ask your target populations and audiences what they know about the issues we're trying to address, explore the potential consequences of applying evidence and make decisions based on the resources available – now and in the future.<sup>10</sup> Because chronic disease prevention objectives can take a long time to be achieved, practical thinking in this context means you must consider how long you are willing and able to support an intervention before choosing one to implement. You also use practical

thinking to help you scope your evaluation plans and choose appropriate methods. For example, if you have a short timeframe within which to complete an evaluation, you will likely have to limit the scope of your evaluation questions and the amount of data you collect.

## Program and Intervention Theory

To reduce the burden of chronic diseases within a population, public health professionals must consider the economic, environmental, social, and behavioural determinants of chronic disease and intervene on multiple levels: individual, interpersonal, community, organizational, and societal. Planning and evaluating a robust program with this level of complexity can be challenging, but it is extremely important. Without strong program and intervention plans, both implementation and evaluation become very difficult. This section provides an overview of why it's important to link your activities and interventions together in meaningful, logical and evidence-based ways.

Program and intervention theories are different than behavioural or social change theories, but both types of theory are important for planning robust programs and interventions. Behavioural and social change theories, like the Theory of Planned Behaviour and Diffusion of Innovations, are explanations, proposed and studied by experts, that describe behaviour or social practices and how they can be changed.<sup>14</sup> **Intervention theory** is a description of how your *particular set of activities* will lead to the intended or actual outcomes needed to achieve your intervention objective(s). **Program theory** is an explanation of how your *intervention objectives* will achieve your goal.<sup>15,16</sup> A program or intervention theory can be described in words, depicted visually or a combination of the two.

Population health data, research evidence, evaluation findings and behavioural and social theories are important to developing strong program and intervention theories. Together, these become the building blocks of the program or intervention, helping you better understand:

- what health outcomes and determinants of health require intervention
- what determinants of health are affecting population health and in what ways
- what interventions will likely be effective
- how to link interventions together into a program
- how to deliver programs and interventions effectively and efficiently

If your program or intervention theory is described before you start implementing, it can help you develop your evaluation plan.<sup>16</sup> A well-articulated program or intervention theory is important because in chronic disease prevention, you are more likely to evaluate the program and intervention theories than conduct a summative evaluation of long-term outcomes or program goals.

Because chronic disease prevention programs and interventions are complex and take a long time to achieve their program goals or long-term outcomes, a robust, evidence-based program theory gives you confidence that the interventions you are currently doing – or will do – will

achieve the program goal. You can then evaluate the effectiveness of the component interventions in producing shorter-term outcomes; if they are effective, then you can be reasonably sure that your longterm outcomes will be realized without having to conduct another evaluation. For example, let's say your program theory says that, in order to reduce the proportion of youth



and adults who experience poor mental health, you have to ensure they develop coping skills as children. You can evaluate your intervention to determine if it effectively improves coping skills among children. If it is effective, then you can feel confident that these children are at lower risk of experiencing poor mental health as youth and adults. If it is not effective, then you need to determine why and adjust the intervention accordingly.

A robust, evidence-based intervention theory will show you the potential consequences – positive and negative – that could result from any changes you make to the intervention delivery. Using the example of an intervention aiming to improve the coping skills of children, your intervention theory would tell you which activities are necessary to achieve the objective. If you eliminate or change one of those activities, you may no longer see the outcomes you expect. If you do need to change the activities (e.g., because you no longer have the resources

to deliver them in the same way), you can evaluate if the changes you make to activities affect your outcomes and refine your intervention theory.

Two common ways of describing program and intervention theories are logic models and theories of change (ToCs). Although often used interchangeably, they are two different concepts. The differences between logic models and ToCs are in their complexity and depth: logic models provide a simple (often linear) overview of the program's components and the relationships among them; ToCs provide a complex, causal picture of how and why your activities will lead to your ultimate goal.<sup>17,18</sup> The best one to use depends on your needs and the complexity of your program or intervention.

A **logic model** is "a picture of how your organization does its work – the theory and assumptions underlying the program"<sup>19(p.III)</sup> or intervention. It is a way to "share your understanding of the relationships among the resources you have to operate your program, the activities you plan, and the changes or results you hope to achieve."<sup>19(p.1)</sup> There are different types of logic models, including theory-, outcomes- and activities-based; the type you choose to create should be determined by what you want to use it for.<sup>19</sup> For example, if you want to conduct a process evaluation to determine if an intervention is being implemented the way it is intended, an activities-based logic model would be most appropriate. Figure 4 provides an example of an activities-based logic model.

Although there is no agreed upon definition of a **Theory of Change**,<sup>17,20,21</sup> it is often thought of as both a product and a process.<sup>22</sup> As a product, it is a causal framework that articulates how and why a complex change process will occur over time in a particular context. Theories of change are like roadmaps for a complex change initiative. As a process, a ToC brings together key stakeholders and engages them in an outcomes-focused, rigorous, and participatory process to plan the design, implementation, and evaluation of a complex change initiative.<sup>17,21,22</sup>

The ToC approach can be used for a single intervention, but it's most useful for planning and evaluation of systems change initiatives or complex programs comprised of several interventions and involving multiple actors.<sup>22</sup> The ability of ToCs to manage complexity makes them valuable tools for chronic disease prevention planning and evaluation. Given that the ultimate outcome for chronic disease prevention programs – reduction in the rates of chronic diseases – is a goal that is not able to be realized for many years, ToCs enable public health professionals to create a roadmap of how the work they do today will impact the health of their



#### Figure 4. Activities-Based Logic Model Example for a Chronic Disease Prevention Intervention

Note: This logic model was adapted from the intervention described in Cochrane T, Davey RC. Increasing uptake of physical activity: a social ecological approach. J R Soc Promot Health. 2008;128(1):31-40.

local communities in the future. They also enable them to focus their evaluation efforts on the shorter-term outcomes of their programs and interventions, confident that if they are successful in achieving these outcomes, they will be making an impact on population health in the years to come. Figure 5 provides an example of a ToC for a chronic disease prevention program.

#### Quality Standard



Each program and intervention should have a theory that is described in a way that allows implementers and evaluators to understand how and why it is expected to work and what it is intending to achieve. The theory should incorporate evidence from research, evaluation, public health expertise and experiences of the people who will be involved in the program or intervention.



#### Figure 5. Theory of Change Example for a Tobacco-Attributable Diseases Program

Note: Adapted from the Region of Peel - Public Health's Theory of Change for Tobacco Attributable Diseases

Chronic disease prevention programs should employ the frameworks and approaches outlined in the Ontario Public Health Standards Chronic Disease Prevention Guideline<sup>23</sup> through its interventions. To produce changes in population health, the interventions should target populations within and across all life course stages (e.g., childhood, adolescence, etc.).<sup>24</sup> Similarly, the interventions should target multiple ecological levels of influence (e.g., individual, community, interpersonal, etc.) with greater emphasis on interventions creating supportive physical and social environments and addressing the social determinants of health.<sup>23</sup> Finally, the interventions in a program should employ multiple health promotion strategies from the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (e.g., building healthy public policy, developing personal skills, reorienting health services, etc.).<sup>23,25</sup> In practice, this means that chronic disease prevention programs require significant resource investment to have the potential to be effective. Table 1 shows an example of how an alcohol-attributable diseases program can be comprehensive.

## Target Population, Target Audience and Priority Population

In chronic disease prevention work, you need to define three key groups of people: target populations, target audiences and priority populations. Each group has an important role in successfully achieving your objectives and goals, but their role in your interventions varies. Each program and intervention must have a defined **target population** (sometimes called the target group): the group of people in which you are trying to produce a change in behaviour or health status.<sup>26</sup> Your target population can be as broad or specific as you need it to be, but your activities should address their needs, preferences and lifestyles.

In chronic disease prevention work you often need to influence other people to produce positive changes in your target population's behaviours or health status; for example, to change children's physical activity levels, you need to influence their parents' behaviours and attitudes. The group of people you are trying to engage in your intervention activities is called the **target audience**.<sup>27</sup> Some interventions will have more than one target audience. Sometimes your target audience and target population are the same, but because of the future-oriented and intersectoral nature of chronic disease prevention, you will often try to engage groups that differ from your target population. For example, you may want to reduce the amount of time children

Table 1. Example of a complemensive officine Disease Freedom in Toylam
--

Intervention	Target population	Activities	Life course stages	Levels of influence	Strategies
Increasing access to early treatment for problem drinking	People 15-74 years old visiting a health care provider	<ul> <li>Promotion of screening, brief intervention and referral by healthcare providers</li> <li>Advocacy for the delivery of problem drinking treatment services in the community</li> <li>Advocacy for increased coverage for problem drinking treatment under provincial health insurance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pre-birth</li> <li>Childhood</li> <li>Adolescence</li> <li>Adulthood</li> <li>Older adulthood</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>☐ Individual</li> <li>☐ Interpersonal</li> <li>△ Community/</li> <li>Organizational</li> <li>☐ Environmental</li> <li>△ Policy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>□ DPS</li> <li>□ SCA</li> <li>○ RHS</li> <li>□ CSE</li> <li>○ HPP</li> </ul>
Promoting abstinence until reaching legal drinking age and harm reduction behaviours	Students aged 12-29 years old	<ul> <li>In-class lessons about the Low Risk Alcohol Drinking Guidelines (LRADG)</li> <li>Social and traditional media campaign</li> <li>Alcohol-free on-campus events</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pre-birth</li> <li>Childhood</li> <li>Adolescence</li> <li>Adulthood</li> <li>Older adulthood</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individual</li> <li>Interpersonal</li> <li>Community/</li> <li>Organizational</li> <li>Environmental</li> <li>Policy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>□ DPS</li> <li>□ SCA</li> <li>□ RHS</li> <li>□ CSE</li> <li>□ HPP</li> </ul>
Promoting and supporting abstinence during pregnancy	Women who are pregnant	<ul> <li>Education on LRADG by obstetrician-gynecologists during each appointment</li> <li>Promotion of abstinence among partners of pregnant women</li> <li>Support groups for pregnant women who try to abstain</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pre-birth</li> <li>Childhood</li> <li>Adolescence</li> <li>Adulthood</li> <li>Older adulthood</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individual</li> <li>Interpersonal</li> <li>Community/</li> <li>Organizational</li> <li>Environmental</li> <li>Policy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>☑ DPS</li> <li>□ SCA</li> <li>□ RHS</li> <li>☑ CSE</li> <li>□ HPP</li> </ul>
Reducing access to alcohol	All residents	<ul> <li>Community mobilization for raising the drinking age</li> <li>Advocacy for municipal alcohol policies, including placing or increasing restrictions on the location of alcohol outlets</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pre-birth</li> <li>Childhood</li> <li>Adolescence</li> <li>Adulthood</li> <li>Older adulthood</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individual</li> <li>Interpersonal</li> <li>Community/</li> <li>Organizational</li> <li>Environmental</li> <li>Policy</li> </ul>	☐ DPS ⊠ SCA ☐ RHS ⊠ CSE ⊠ HPP

**Legend:** DPS = develop personal skills; SCA = strengthen community action; RHS = reorient health services; CSE = create supportive environments; HPP = build healthy public policy

(target population) spend engaging in sedentary behaviours, but to do so you need to influence their parents' and teachers' attitudes and behaviours (target audiences). Your intervention should have defined outcomes for both your target audience(s) and your target population. It's important to describe both your target population and your target audience(s) so that you know which outcomes you need to see in each group. Table 2 provides examples of two interventions for which the target population and target audiences differ.

Intervention Description	Target population	Target audience(s)
A tobacco cessation intervention that aims to get men to quit smoking by appealing to their sense of duty to their families	Men, aged 30-54, who smoke daily or occasionally	Partners of men who smoke
A physical activity intervention that aims to increase engagement in active modes of transportation by influencing municipal policies	Residents aged 12 and older	Municipal staff and councillors

#### Table 2. Examples of Target Populations and Target Audiences

The final group of people you need to define is the **priority population**: a group of people "experiencing and/or at increased risk of poor health outcomes due to the burden of disease and/or factors for disease; the determinants of health, including the social determinants of health; and/or the intersection between them."<sup>11</sup> Epidemiological analyses can determine which subgroups of people within your target population are experiencing higher rates of morbidity and mortality due to chronic diseases or are at higher risk of developing chronic diseases in the future. Priority populations should be specific to the health outcomes you are trying to impact; that is, they should not be generalized to all chronic disease prevention work. Defining your priority population(s) is important for applying a **proportionate universalism** approach to

resource allocation whereby everyone receives some degree of intervention, but the degree of intervention is dependent upon their need or the inequities they are experiencing.<sup>28</sup>

#### **Quality Standard**



Each program must have a defined target population for the program goal. If priority populations have been identified for a program, you must provide evidence to justify their identification. Each intervention must have a defined target population. If your intervention's target audience is different from its target population, you must describe it in the intervention plan.

## **Indicators of Success**

If you want to know if your program or intervention has been or is successful, you need to first define what success looks like by choosing indicators. An indicator is "a specific, observable and measurable accomplishment or change that shows the progress made toward achieving a specific output or outcome."29 Indicators are used to monitor your programs and interventions they tell you if there is something you should evaluate. For example, an indicator of success for your intervention may be participation rates. If you suddenly notice a drop-off or surge in participation, you can conduct an evaluation to understand why participation rates have changed. Where possible, you should choose established indicators: ones that have been developed, tested and validated and are known to be relevant to your outputs and outcomes.<sup>30</sup> You should also ensure that your indicators are sensitive enough to show meaningful changes in your outputs and outcomes. For example, the rate of deaths due to lung cancer is one indicator of the impact of the disease on population health; however, because people can live with lung cancer for a long time before dying and may die of unrelated causes, by itself it is not a good indicator of whether you are influencing the prevalence of lung cancer. Instead, the proportion of people exposed to your intervention who intend to quit smoking in the next six months or have made a quit attempt in the past year may be more sensitive to changes produced by your programs and interventions.

Both outputs and outcomes need indicators, and you can use more than one indicator for an output or outcome. For example, to understand the burden of cardiovascular diseases you might choose to monitor the rates of emergency department visits, hospitalizations and deaths due to cardiovascular diseases. You should define and describe the key indicators of success for your programs and interventions before you start implementing them, but new indicators can be developed as you learn how the program is unfolding. Be careful, though – too many indicators can make it hard to interpret what's going on with your program or intervention and in your target population.

Because data sources and resource availability change over time, you should regularly revisit your indicators to ensure they are still relevant, feasible and appropriate. Population-level indicators for protective and risk factors for developing chronic diseases may be limited and/or your desired program- or intervention-level indicators may not yet exist. If your indicator is truly important, then you will need to invest resources in creating the systems and structures needed to collect data for that indicator.

## Making Sure You're Ready: Assess Evaluability

Evaluation is an important tool in chronic disease prevention, but just like most tools, it has a time and place when it's most useful. Deciding whether to evaluate a chronic disease prevention program or intervention can be a challenge. Before you start evaluating your program or intervention you should assess the readiness of the program and its stakeholders for evaluation.<sup>31</sup> Doing so in advance can save you money – either by avoiding an unnecessary evaluation or focusing the scope of your evaluation.<sup>32</sup> **Evaluability assessments** examine whether or not your program or intervention can feasibly and usefully be evaluated; they are ongoing, iterative processes that can be done informally or formally. You should start assessing evaluability when the idea of evaluation first arises and should continue to assess it until you start implementing an evaluation plan. In this section, we discuss two key questions an evaluability assessment of chronic disease prevention programs and interventions should answer: Should you evaluate?

## Should You Evaluate?

The purpose of evaluation is to inform a decision about or acquire a deeper understanding of the program or intervention.<sup>1</sup> Unless you are mandated to conduct an evaluation, there is no point to evaluating your program or intervention if you don't have a question that needs to be asked or a decision that needs to be made. When you start assessing whether you should evaluate, start with the potential evaluation users. Talk to them to understand what their evaluation needs are and what evaluation questions they might want to prioritize; this information can help to determine the scope or type of evaluation you will do.<sup>32</sup> If they want to redesign the intervention so that it incorporates more recent technology, a formative evaluation might be useful. If they want to know which groups of people are benefitting most from a program, a summative evaluation is needed.

The outcomes produced by chronic disease prevention programs and interventions don't always lend themselves well to evaluation. If your stakeholders are only interested in assessing outcomes, you may not be able to meet their learning needs. In these situations, you should try to find a more feasible scope (see the Can You Evaluate? section below) or seek out additional evaluation support (e.g., external consultants or researchers) to meet their needs. Another thing to consider here is whether your stakeholders' evaluation questions can be addressed through

other means. For example, if your stakeholders are interested in learning about the participants' satisfaction with the intervention, a quality improvement project might answer their question. Similarly, if your chronic disease prevention intervention that has demonstrated that it works in controlled conditions as well as in "real world," and has been implemented with fidelity, then it's reasonable to assume that your intervention is effective and does not require additional evaluation to determine its effectiveness.

Chronic disease prevention programs and interventions require significant resource investment from multiple sectors and stakeholders, which can be both a facilitator and barrier to the utility of

evaluations. When many hands are in the pot, making decisions about what to evaluate and how to act on evaluation findings is harder. When the enthusiasm is high, each person may want to know something different, expanding the scope of the evaluation beyond what your resources and skills can support, which might mean reduced buy-in for what your evaluation eventually becomes. Alternatively, the prospect that an evaluation may



produce negative or undesired findings may be a deterrent for some stakeholders who do not want to risk losing funding for staff and other resources attached to the program or intervention being evaluated.

It is also important to determine what the intended users can and will do with the evaluation results. Resource availability, political will and organizational culture all impact the ability of evaluation users to address and/or apply evaluation findings. During an evaluability assessment, you should explore if they are willing and able to make changes to the program or intervention. If there are limitations to their willingness or ability to act on the evaluation findings, what are they? To promote the utility of the potential evaluation, all your stakeholders should agree on the reason for the evaluation, its scope, the evaluation questions and the intended use of the findings.<sup>31-33</sup> Without this agreement from the outset, your evaluation could be a waste of resources. Once you have agreement, you can focus your evaluation on those things that will be acted upon.

## Can You Evaluate?

Just as important as whether you *should* evaluate your chronic disease prevention program or intervention is whether you *can* evaluate it. There are two important concepts to assess when determining your ability to evaluate: plausibility and feasibility.<sup>31</sup> Plausibility helps you understand if your program or intervention is ready for evaluation; feasibility helps you understand if your organization is capable of evaluating the program or intervention.

**Plausibility** refers to the likelihood that your evaluation questions can be answered. To assess plausibility, you have to review your program or intervention theory and the evidence used to create it, as well as the extent to which your program or intervention has been implemented.<sup>30,31</sup> If your program or intervention theory is underdeveloped or is based on inappropriate or inadequate evidence, it is unlikely to produce the outcomes that you think it will<sup>31</sup> and your ability to evaluate those outcomes will be limited. Theory-based evaluation approaches are particularly helpful in this situation to support evaluation of chronic disease prevention programs and interventions. These approaches are used to understand how programs and interventions create change.<sup>34</sup> For example, a comprehensive sleep program may employ evidence-based interventions to improve people's sleep habits. However, most of the evidence for those interventions may be based on data from people who work "9-to-5" jobs and you want to know how those interventions work for people who work varied hours or shift work. A theory-based evaluation approach such as realist evaluation can help you understand "What works, for whom, in what respects, to what extent, in what contexts, and how?".<sup>35</sup> After evaluating and further refining the theory, you may be able to evaluate whether your short-term outcomes have been achieved.

Another aspect of plausibility is the implementation of your program or intervention. If your program or intervention theory is well-developed, it should tell you how much work you need to do and how to do it. A plausibility assessment includes determining if enough work has been done and if it has been done the way it was intended.<sup>33</sup> As we've said before, chronic disease prevention requires significant resource investment and reach to produce measurable changes in your target population. If your theory says that it takes 30 or more quit attempts to successfully quit smoking for one year,<sup>36</sup> you will need to engage smokers in your smoking cessation intervention for a significant duration (possibly more than 30 years!)<sup>37</sup> and see multiple quit attempts among them to observe your behavioural outcome (quitting smoking for

one year). That means if you are only engaging participants for one year or less, then you aren't likely to see many successful quit attempts – especially if those participants haven't tried to quit smoking before. In this case, it would not be appropriate to conduct an evaluation to see if your intervention is helping people quit smoking because it's unlikely your program could produce the outcome, even if your theory is plausible. Instead, it might be more plausible to see a change in your participants' motivations and attitudes towards quitting smoking.

**Feasibility** refers to the ability of your organization to do the evaluation in the way that you are proposing. Before proceeding, your evaluability assessment should determine that you have the data, money, time, people, infrastructure, knowledge and skills needed to credibly answer your evaluation questions.<sup>30</sup> Evaluation requires significant resource investment to be done well, particularly when you have several outcomes and processes to assess. In chronic disease prevention, long-term outcomes take years – or even decades – to achieve (see the tobacco example above), but short-term outcomes may be more feasible to evaluate because they won't require the same amount of time and money to be invested in the evaluation.

When assessing the feasibility of any evaluation, you should also assess the knowledge and skills of the people who will need to conduct it by asking questions like:

- Do you need to train people to collect and analyze data?
- Do you have the methodological expertise available to design a rigorous evaluation?
- If your existing staff do not have the knowledge and skills needed, do you have the money to hire someone to conduct the evaluation for you?

Due to the collaborative nature of chronic disease prevention programs and interventions, participatory evaluation approaches are useful to engage stakeholders throughout the process of designing, conducting and using evaluation.<sup>38,39</sup> If you are planning to use a participatory approach, you need to also consider the availability of skilled facilitators who can balance the experiences and expertise of your collaborators with the methodological rigor needed to answer your evaluation questions.<sup>40</sup> If you have limited resources in any of these areas, consider reframing your evaluation or narrowing its scope.

Figure 6 summarizes evaluability assessments into a simple equation: if you *should* evaluate and you *can* evaluate, then your program or intervention is *evaluable*. If your assessment reveals it's not the right time to evaluate, that's OK. You can change your proposed evaluation,





change the program or intervention, end the program or intervention or continue to implement it without evaluating right now. Remember: if your context changes, you can always conduct another evaluability assessment to see if your program or intervention is evaluable.

Quality Standard
The evaluability of your program or intervention must be assessed
- formally or informally - prior to conducting an evaluation.

# Choosing the Path Forward: Design a Rigorous Evaluation

Designing an evaluation requires evaluative thinking, research skills and collaboration. In this section, we'll discuss what you need to consider when choosing your evaluation questions, approach and methods. We also examine ethical issues that can arise during chronic disease prevention evaluations.

## Components of an Evaluation Plan

An evaluation plan is a written document that describes your intended actions and the reasoning behind them. It helps you and your stakeholders understand the purpose, scope and methods of the evaluation so that everyone knows from the outset what you can and can't accomplish in the evaluation.<sup>41</sup> Although there are common components of an evaluation plan, the way they come together in a plan may be more complicated for chronic disease prevention evaluations than for other public health topic areas. In general, your evaluation plan should include:

- a description of the program or intervention being evaluated, including the program or intervention theory
- the purpose of the evaluation and the specific questions you will try to answer
- your evaluation approach and the methods you will use
- roles and responsibilities of the project team
- the financial, human and other resources you will need to execute the plan
- the intended users of the evaluation findings and the knowledge exchange and dissemination activities to engage them
- an action plan to describe how you will act on the recommendations<sup>41</sup>

The following sections describe how you should approach completing an evaluation plan for chronic disease prevention evaluations. Evaluative thinking is a necessary skill and process for developing a rigorous evaluation plan. As you continue to think critically, creatively, inferentially and practically, you will adjust the plan to meet your stakeholders' needs and suit the context.<sup>41</sup> The objective is to create a plan that will produce an evaluation that is useful, feasible, grounded in evidence and conducted with integrity.<sup>42</sup>

#### **Quality Standard**



Each evaluation must have a documented evaluation plan completed prior to undertaking any evaluation activities.

## **Engaging Stakeholders**

Involving stakeholders in developing an evaluation plan helps ensure the evaluation addresses the information and learning needs of the intended users and is utilized for its intended purpose.<sup>43</sup> Stakeholders are particularly important to engage in chronic disease prevention evaluations because the complexity of the programs and interventions warrants seeking out and considering multiple perspectives on the activities.<sup>30</sup> By engaging stakeholders early in the evaluation planning process, you ensure that you have support for your activities and the reasoning behind your decisions is well-developed.<sup>41</sup>

Chronic disease prevention programs and interventions can have dozens of stakeholders – but having too many stakeholders involved in the work of designing an evaluation can make the process difficult to manage. For this reason, it is important to identify not only who your stakeholders are, but *why* they are interested in your evaluation. Their interest in the evaluation will also dictate what role they might play in your evaluation design.<sup>30,41</sup> Being clear about stakeholder roles makes the feedback and design process smoother. Table 3 provides examples of stakeholders who might be interested in your evaluation and how they might be involved in the evaluation design.

## Articulating the Evaluation Purpose and Questions

Your **evaluation purpose** is the overarching reason you decided to evaluate your program or intervention<sup>41</sup> and it is linked to the type of evaluation – formative, process or summative – you will pursue.<sup>44</sup> You might want to determine the effectiveness of your program (summative),

Stakeholders	Evaluator's Interest in their Perspective	Potential Role(s) in Design
<ul> <li>Program or intervention funders</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Ensure it meets their decision- making needs about future or ongoing funding</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Approval of final evaluation plan</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Partner agencies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>May be asked to help recruit their clients or employees to be participants for the evaluation</li> <li>May want to implement the program or intervention being evaluated</li> </ul>	• Provide feedback about feasibility and appropriateness of participant recruitment strategies and data collection methods
<ul> <li>Target population and/or audience members</li> <li>Program or intervention staff members</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>May become evaluation participants</li> <li>Ensure the findings include their perspectives</li> <li>May be affected by the recommendations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provide feedback about feasibility and appropriateness of participant recruitment strategies and data collection methods</li> <li>Provide feedback about potential consequences of achieving the evaluation purpose or answering the evaluation questions</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Program or intervention delivery and content decision- makers</li> <li>Evaluation funders</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Ensure it meets their decision- making needs regarding program and intervention activities</li> <li>Ensure it meets their expectations for resource investments</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Approval of final evaluation plan</li> <li>Provide feedback on the scope and purpose of the evaluation, including its evaluation questions</li> <li>Provide feedback on the potential participants and the type of data collected</li> <li>Provide feedback about knowledge exchange products and activities</li> </ul>

#### Table 3. Sample Stakeholder Analysis in Chronic Disease Prevention Evaluation Design

understand how an intervention is being implemented at different sites (process) or what your target audience's communication preferences are (formative). As discussed above, it's hard to show that chronic disease prevention programs and interventions have direct impact on the health of a population; therefore, a common purpose for chronic disease prevention evaluations is to better understand or refine the program or intervention theory. Having a reason to do the evaluation is part of the evaluability equation described above, so doing an evaluability assessment should refine your evaluation's purpose.

**Evaluation questions** are what you need to answer to achieve your evaluation purpose; they are *not* the questions you ask of participants or instruments to collect data.<sup>30</sup> Let's explore the evaluation questions you might ask if you need to decide how to resource the interventions within a healthy eating program going forward (a formative evaluation) because your program budget has been reduced. To achieve that purpose, you will need to know:

- What are the potential consequences to the program's effectiveness if you stop one or more interventions?
- What if any alternative interventions could be implemented using reduced resources, while achieving similar effectiveness?
- What if any ways can the existing interventions be delivered using reduced resources, while maintaining effectiveness?

To fulfill the second half of the evaluability equation, your evaluation must be feasible: you should have the resources available to gather, collect and analyze data to answer all your evaluation questions. The complexity of chronic disease prevention programs and interventions

means you will likely have several evaluation questions to answer that require a lot of data or hard-to-collect data. If you are unable to secure the needed resources, you will need to reduce the number of questions or refine them to narrow the scope of the evaluation. In the above example, if you don't have enough time or money to assess the contribution of all



interventions in the healthy eating program, you could revise the first question to include only a subset of interventions: "To what extent are the interventions targeting adolescents contributing to the program's goal?" As you move through the rest of the design process, you should review and revise your evaluation questions to ensure they are still feasible and are helping you achieve your purpose.

#### **Quality Standard**



Each evaluation must have its purpose and evaluation questions defined *before* choosing the evaluation approach, selecting the methods and conducting the evaluation.

## Choosing an Evaluation Approach

An **evaluation approach** is "an integrated package of options (methods or processes)"<sup>45</sup> that help you achieve your evaluation purpose and answer your evaluation questions. It directs your design choices, implementation practices and knowledge exchange activities.<sup>44</sup> Each approach has its strengths and limitations which need to be considered before you settle on one or more to employ in your evaluation. Again, evaluative thinking is important here. You need to think critically about whether your evaluation team's values align with the approach; creatively to design strategies to mitigate the limitations of the approach; inferentially to understand if the approach can offer evidence you are willing and able to act on; and practically to determine if you have the capacity to employ the approach well.

Evaluation approaches can be described in terms of their "orientation" or what they prioritize.<sup>46</sup> For example, Appreciative Inquiry is a strengths-based approach and Utilization-Focused Evaluation is a user- or consumer-oriented approach.<sup>47,48</sup> The orientation helps you understand the underlying philosophy of the approach and what types of evaluation questions it can help you answer. An Appreciative Inquiry approach is not going to help you answer questions about what is missing from a program or intervention or where it is falling short; however, it can help you understand what lessons can be learned from what is going well, how to build upon them and/or how to apply them elsewhere.<sup>47</sup> The orientation also tells you if the approach aligns with your stakeholders' values. If your stakeholders value objectivity, then an approach that prioritizes narratives of participants' experiences and values over direct measurement, like Most Significant Change,<sup>49</sup> would be inappropriate. In chronic disease prevention, evaluation questions can be diverse and complex, so you might need more than one evaluation approach to answer them all. In these cases, you need to make clear how you will combine the approaches – including how you will deal with any incompatible philosophies. For example, you should describe how you will use the data from each approach to make conclusions: do the findings from the first approach inform what data are collected using the second approach, or are the different approaches used to increase your confidence in the findings?

#### Quality Standard

Each evaluation must have a defined approach that is stated and/or described in the evaluation plan. If more than one approach is used, how the approaches will be combined to answer the evaluation questions must also be described.

## The Evaluation Matrix

An **evaluation matrix** is a tool to document how you will answer your evaluation questions. Each evaluation question is matched to the measures and data sources that will generate evidence related to the question.<sup>50</sup> All evaluation data should be collected for a specific reason and the evaluation matrix helps you demonstrate that reasoning. It also makes it easier to see how you are planning to integrate multiple evaluation approaches.<sup>50</sup> The complexity of chronic disease prevention evaluations means that they may require significant amounts of data be collected over multiple years. When it's time to analyze all the data, an evaluation matrix will help you keep track of why you collected each dataset, how it relates to other datasets and what you expect it to reveal about your program or intervention. The matrix also makes it easier for your stakeholders to understand your choice of measures and data sources and provide input to them. An evaluation matrix can also assign data collection and analysis methods, timelines and staff to each measure or data source.<sup>50</sup>

#### Measures

As we defined in the planning section above, indicators let you know if your program or intervention is successful or if something has changed. **Measures** are the quantitative and qualitative pieces of information you are collecting to learn about your program or intervention. It's a subtle – but important – difference. Just as you can have multiple indicators to describe an

outcome, you can choose from multiple measures to feed into an indicator. Table 4 provides examples of measures for relevant chronic disease prevention indicators. The measures you will employ in an evaluation should be considered as part of your evaluability assessment: they should be feasible to collect and analyze and be plausible representations of your indicators.

Indicator	Potential Measures	Quantitative or Qualitative
Proportion of the population who engages in hazardous or harmful drinking	Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) scores <sup>51</sup>	Quantitative
	Self-reported prevalence of exceeding the low-risk alcohol drinking guidelines (LRADG) <sup>52</sup> in the last year	Quantitative
	Self-reported high-risk behaviours engaged in while drinking (e.g., driving, jumping from high places)	Qualitative
Proportion of users that engaged with social media content	Number of unique users that commented on a page or post	Quantitative
	Number of unique users that click through a link	Quantitative
	Number of unique users who liked a page or post <sup>53</sup>	Quantitative
Quality of municipal by- laws that promote active transportation	Number of references to academic literature <sup>54</sup>	Quantitative
	Consistency of content with the most recent evidence <sup>54</sup>	Qualitative
	Consistency of content with other policies that have demonstrated effectiveness <sup>54</sup>	Qualitative

Because evaluation involves comparisons, you should think about what those comparisons will be when selecting your measures. If you think you will want to evaluate your program or intervention's progress over time, you should collect data for your measures *before* implementation to establish a baseline. If you think you will want to evaluate your ability to meet a standard, you should set a target or benchmark in advance.<sup>27</sup> If you are comparing your program or intervention's performance to a benchmark, you need to use the same measures and data collection procedures as your benchmark. For output measures, you should choose

targets that ensure you have done enough work to potentially achieve your outcomes. For example, if your program aims to see a change in 5% of your population, you will need to reach much more than 5% of your population through your interventions. The comparison could also be between groups, such as those who received the intervention and those who did not. As with benchmarks, the same measures and procedures should be used when comparing between groups.

#### **Data Sources**

After you have determined the measures you will use, you will identify the best sources from which to obtain data. Sources are where you get the information from – not how you collect it. You can have primary or secondary sources of information. **Primary sources** reflect data and datasets collected for your specific evaluation; **secondary sources** reflect existing datasets collected for a different purpose. Because of this distinction, secondary sources are often less expensive to tap into, but they may also be less relevant to or appropriate for your evaluation questions and context.<sup>46</sup> For chronic disease prevention evaluations that require long-term follow-up, primary sources of data may not be feasible to collect. However, data collection tools and procedures can change over time or be discontinued, so secondary sources that were appropriate at the outset of an evaluation may be inappropriate before the end of the follow-up. Secondary data relevant to chronic disease prevention can come from healthcare and social services organizations, public health databases, internal databases, research, media, national or provincial surveys and municipalities.

Primary and secondary data can come from people, observations, physical measurements or documents and files.<sup>55</sup> Each source has its benefits and limitations. Although direct observations or physical measurements might be ideal for some measures, you often have to rely on self-reported data for chronic disease prevention evaluations. For example, physical activity and sedentary behaviours can be captured with the use of accelerometers but public health units don't often have the money, time and equipment needed to use them appropriately. Instead, you can ask evaluation participants to keep diaries or answer recall questions on surveys. Chronic disease prevention evaluations can use data from each of these sources. For example, evaluation of a built environment intervention may use any and all of the following sources of information:

- people's opinions about the proposed locations of bike lanes posted in an online forum
- observations of the number of cyclists at an intersection during rush hour

- physical measurements of the total kilometres of bike lanes in a municipality
- documented political discussions from municipal council meeting minutes

Your evaluation matrix should identify the specific source for each of your measures. You may have multiple sources for a measure available to you at any given moment. In the example of hazardous and harmful drinking from Table 4, you could get AUDIT scores from a questionnaire administered by your evaluation team (a primary source) or you could get AUDIT scores from secondary sources like the CAMH Monitor<sup>56</sup> or the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey.<sup>57</sup> The sources you choose should align with the evaluation approach you selected. For example, if your approach values the participants' or target populations' experiences then you should use sources that have data from people directly affected by or involved in your program or intervention.

#### Quality Standard



Each evaluation must document (e.g., in an evaluation matrix) the measures and data sources that will be used to answer each evaluation question. The measures you choose should be feasible and plausible, and the data sources you use should align with the evaluation approach.

## Data Collection and Analysis Protocols

Once you have described the measures and data sources you will need to answer your questions, you have to plan for collecting and analyzing it. Your evaluation approach(es) will tell you which data collection and analysis procedures are appropriate to answer your evaluation questions.<sup>45</sup> The amount of detail in these protocols will depend on the approach you choose. For some approaches, it's important to decide and describe exactly how you will collect and analyze the data in advance. For others, data collection and analysis are more flexible and iterative. In the latter cases, you will describe the basic principles that will guide your methods in the evaluation plan and document your exact methods in your final report.

**Data collection protocols** describe what data are relevant to your evaluation; where you will get the data from; how you will recruit participants; who will collect the data and how they will be recorded, validated and stored. Data collection protocols help ensure that you will collect useful data that will answer your evaluation questions. They should describe the methods (e.g., interviews, surveys, focus groups, document reviews, etc.), tools (e.g., questionnaires, interview guides, checklists, etc.) and people involved in this stage of the evaluation. If more than one person is collecting data, you should describe how you will ensure they are collecting it in the same way. Data quality standards and methods for assessing those standards are also described in these protocols.<sup>30,41</sup>

Chronic disease prevention programs and interventions are complex, so you will likely have to employ multiple methods and tools to collect all the data needed to answer your evaluation



questions. Use the questions from the evaluability assessment to help you determine which methods to employ: do you have the resources needed to do them well and are they likely to tell you what you need to know? When choosing methods for chronic disease prevention evaluations, you also have to consider if your potential sources of data can provide

the information you are seeking. For example, if you want to collect data about young children, asking them to read and respond to a survey might be challenging; however, you could read the questions to them and have them respond verbally or draw a picture, or you could ask their parents to respond to the survey on their child's behalf. Similarly, health equity concerns may limit the effectiveness of some data collection methods. Transportation, language, cultural practices, educational attainment, literacy levels, social isolation and stigma can be barriers to participation in primary data collection or could be characteristics of people whose voices are excluded from secondary data sources.<sup>44</sup> Consider how you can employ multiple collection

methods to maximize the range of experiences and backgrounds that are included in your evaluation, as appropriate.

**Data analysis protocols** describe how you will treat the data once they are collected. They should include how you will deal with missing, incomplete or ambiguous data; the analytical methods you will use; which subgroup analyses and comparisons you will make; any hypotheses you have made; and how you will validate your analyses.<sup>58</sup> Your approach(es) will dictate which analytical methods are appropriate for your evaluation.<sup>59</sup> For example, randomized controlled trials will employ inferential statistical analyses,<sup>46</sup> but grounded theory studies will employ constant comparative analysis and qualitative coding.<sup>60</sup> If more than one person is analyzing data, you should describe how you will ensure that they are making the same analytical decisions and following the same methods. Because the prevalence of chronic diseases and their risk factors vary by age, sex, socioeconomic status, racial identity and Indigenous identity,<sup>61</sup> you should consider subgroup and equity analyses where possible and those subgroups should be informed by research and local surveillance data.

#### Sampling

For some evaluation approaches, it is impractical and/or unnecessary to collect data from every person or place that might have been affected by your program or intervention. In those cases, you need to identify the subset – or **sample** – you will collect data from. Sometimes, the population is small enough and easy enough to access that you can collect data from each of its members; this method is called a census.<sup>62</sup> The approach you choose for your evaluation will tell you what is important to consider when choosing your sample.

Once you have figured out all the people, organizations, or things that could be sampled, you need to decide who/what will be part of your sample and who/what will not be part of it; these characteristics are known as inclusion and exclusion criteria.<sup>63</sup> Your evaluation approach will guide you in making these decisions. If your approach requires direct knowledge of and experience with the program or intervention, your sample will exclude people and places that were not directly involved in the activities. In chronic disease prevention evaluations, you need to consider inclusion and exclusion criteria such as: exposure to the intervention, prevalence of protective and risk factors for the outcome and the presence of comorbidities.

You also have to determine how big your sample should be, which can be complicated. Your evaluation questions, approach, methodology and methods will help you determine what sample

size you need. The way you determine sample size will be different for quantitative and qualitative methodologies. In quantitative methodologies, you need to consider the **effect size**: the magnitude of change the intervention can produce. Health promotion interventions can successfully produce behavioural changes, but the effect size is generally small to moderate.<sup>64-</sup> <sup>67</sup> Interventions with smaller effect sizes need bigger samples because it's harder to detect differences when effect sizes are small. If you want to be able to show that your intervention had an effect that wasn't due to chance, you should do a sample size calculation to make sure your sample is large enough to be able to show that difference if it exists.<sup>41,68</sup>

In qualitative methodologies, your sample size will need to consider:

- the diversity of experiences you need to capture
- the contexts in which those experiences can occur
- how experiences can change over time
- your underlying philosophy about the nature of "truth" and how we can know it<sup>62</sup>

Some qualitative methodologies require the evaluator to continue sampling people, places, times, contexts and experiences until **theoretical saturation** is reached. Theoretical saturation is the point at which your data collection returns no new information and you can define and describe the properties and variations of the phenomenon you are studying, as well as the relationships it has with other phenomena.<sup>62</sup>

Sometimes, getting the sample size you need might not be feasible. In those cases, you will need to reconsider your evaluation approach or questions. Evaluation approaches and methodologies (like case studies<sup>69</sup>) that aim to understand the context and specificities of a particular experience with the program or intervention will require smaller sample sizes because the purpose isn't to generalize or determine statistical significance. Research evidence and past evaluations can help you determine the likely effect size of your intervention.

Once you know what your sample should look like and how many should be in it, you need to select the members of it. There are several sampling methods that fall into two main categories: probability and non-probability.<sup>62</sup> A comparison of these categories can be found in Table 5. Choose a sampling strategy that aligns with your approach(es) and your evaluation questions.

Table 5. Frobability vs Non-probability Sampling	Table 5. Prol	bability vs N	on-probability	v Sampling <sup>63</sup>
--	---------------	---------------	----------------	--------------------------

	Probability Sampling	Non-probability Sampling
Characteristics	<ul> <li>Random selection of the sample</li> <li>Differences in results between your sample and the population can be estimated</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Non-random selection of the sample</li> <li>Differences in results between your sample and the population cannot be estimated</li> </ul>
Potential Benefits	<ul> <li>Allows for generalizability of sample findings to the population (if done well)</li> <li>All eligible members of the population have the same potential to be included</li> </ul>	Convenient
Potential Challenges	<ul><li>Expensive</li><li>Time-consuming</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Cannot generalize sample findings to the population</li> <li>Not all members of the population are eligible to be sampled, so may be inequitable</li> </ul>
Examples	<ul><li>Random sampling</li><li>Clustered sampling</li></ul>	<ul><li>Theoretical sampling</li><li>Snowball sampling</li><li>Convenience sampling</li></ul>
Most Useful Situations	<ul> <li>Evaluations that assess causation or contribution</li> <li>Evaluation approaches that require control or mitigation of factors outside of the program or intervention that might contribute to the outcome</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Evaluations that assess experiences</li> <li>Evaluation approaches that seek out specific people, experiences and perspectives</li> </ul>

#### **Quality Standard**



Data collection and analysis procedures and the sampling strategy for your evaluation must align with the evaluation approach(es) and methodologies you selected.

## Ethics

As a public health professional, you impact the lives of people and populations every day. Every evaluation activity has an impact on those same people and populations. For that reason, you need to make sure that you pay attention to the potential consequences of your activities and

implement risk mitigation strategies during the design phase of the evaluation. The sections below identify some key ethical considerations for evaluating chronic disease prevention programs and interventions.

#### Equitable Access to Participation

When you design an evaluation, you make decisions about what data and experiences are important to your evaluation questions and the decisions that are made based on your findings. As a result, you decide whose voices are heard and whose are not. The way you design your evaluation also provides benefits to and places burdens on potential participants. An inequitable distribution of benefits and burdens also affects whose voices are heard because they facilitate or hinder participation among different groups.<sup>70</sup> Here are some ways equitable access to participation is affected by your evaluation design:

- Your evaluation questions determine what information and experiences you pay attention to and examine in-depth.
- Your evaluation approach creates power dynamics that affect how decisions are made about and for communities, populations, and cultural groups.
- Your decisions about measures, data sources, sampling strategies and inclusion and exclusion criteria determine who has the chance to participate and how concepts are understood by different subpopulations.
- Your recruitment strategies and data collection methods impact how easy it is for people to participate if they are eligible.
- Your data analysis methods determine to what degree people's unique or dissenting voices and experiences are heard.

When making the design decisions above, you should make sure you are not directly or indirectly excluding people or experiences "for reasons unrelated to the research."<sup>70(p.50)</sup> Public health programs and interventions often have trouble reaching people who are most at risk of developing poor health outcomes. If you make decisions about your programs and interventions without including the target population's experiences in your evaluations, you will continue to have difficulty reaching them and they will continue to experience poor health outcomes.

#### **Consent to Participate**

When you want people to participate in your evaluations, you need to make sure that their consent is "free, informed and ongoing"<sup>70(p.27)</sup> and that their participation options are not unjustly limited by their capacity to consent.<sup>70</sup> Chronic disease prevention programs and interventions often involve people who may have limited capacity to consent to participating in evaluations, such as children, people with low literacy skills or people who do not speak the language in which the evaluation is being conducted. In these cases, you need to implement strategies such as getting consent from authorized third parties and obtaining **assent** (the agreement of a potential participant who is unable to consent) or **dissent** (the refusal of a potential participant who is unable to consent)<sup>70</sup> or using translation services.

Participants need to be told all relevant information *throughout* the evaluation process and they need to be able to withdraw their participation and their data (where possible) without penalty. If withdrawal of participation or data is not possible, these parameters need to be explained to potential participants from the outset.<sup>70</sup> This ethical principle is especially relevant to chronic disease prevention evaluations that require long-term or repeated data collection because participants' circumstances and exposure to risk can change over time.

#### Making Conclusions and Recommendations

Evaluation is done for the purpose of making decisions or answering a specific question about the program or intervention. So, evaluators must understand the potential implications of the conclusions and recommendations that they make on the people and organizations who implement and receive the program and intervention activities.<sup>42</sup> Evaluators don't just say what they found – they put the findings into context and offer recommendations for how to proceed. Sometimes, those recommendations are to divest from the program or intervention, target new populations or audiences or change the way the activities are delivered. If those recommendations are acted upon, people's lives can be changed in ways they may not perceive or experience as positive. To promote transparency and credibility, evaluators need to demonstrate how they came to their conclusions and how their recommendations are relevant to the culture and context of the program or intervention.<sup>42</sup> This ethical principle is particularly relevant to chronic disease prevention summative evaluations because of the complex nature of the work. By demonstrating how your data led to your conclusions, you help your evaluation's

audience assess their credibility and make informed decisions about the program or intervention.

#### **Disseminating Evaluation Findings**

Evaluation findings and recommendations are most useful for learning and decision-making when they are shared with others. You will have to make strategic decisions about with whom and how you share the evaluation results. Evaluators have an ethical duty to communicate evaluation findings and recommendations to those who participated in the evaluation and to those who commissioned the evaluation. If these communications are not carried out with sensitivity, they may cause offence. Your findings could also be misunderstood if they are presented in a way the target audience can't understand (e.g., too high of a reading level). Evaluators should explain the limitations and scope of their findings to help the audience understand the evaluator's interpretations, conclusions and recommendations.<sup>42,71</sup>

#### **Quality Standard**



Each evaluation plan must identify the potential ethical implications of the evaluator's decisions and describe the mitigation strategies that will be employed.

# Collecting and Analyzing the Information: Do Evaluation

Once you have a robust program or intervention that is ready to be evaluated using the methods in your evaluation plan, it's finally time to conduct the evaluation. You'll notice that this section of the Guidebook is the shortest and that is for a good reason: rigorous evaluations have robust evaluation plans. Still, there are important considerations for conducting chronic disease prevention evaluations and they are presented below.

## Following the Plan

Your evaluation plan identified the important steps you will follow and the principles that will guide you as you collect and analyze data. If followed, your plan can function as the documentation of your methods. Following the plan increases consistency in data collection and analysis, which supports the "dependability and truthfulness" of your evaluation results.<sup>42</sup> It also helps address quality standards like reliability, validity and objectivity (for quantitative data)<sup>46</sup> or trustworthiness (for qualitative data).<sup>72</sup> For chronic disease prevention evaluation plans that include multiple sites, take several years to implement and/or require multiple people to collect and analyze data, following the plan helps make it easier to manage the project because it can act as a training and operational manual or provide principles on which to make decisions.

## **Being Adaptable**

Sometimes you encounter issues that you didn't anticipate during the evaluation design process. For example, secondary data may not be available or you may be unable to recruit enough participants. In these cases, you can adapt your plan, as long as your adaptations are aligned with the principles and philosophical underpinnings of your evaluation approach. You must document any deviations from the plan, the reason you made them and the potential

consequences (positive and negative) of the changes.<sup>42</sup> If the program or intervention itself changes, the methods you described in the evaluation plan may not be feasible or appropriate anymore. You need to make sure you know what methods you can adapt and how, so that you are still able to answer your evaluation questions – particularly when



evaluating long-term chronic disease prevention outcomes.

Some approaches, like developmental evaluation<sup>73,74</sup> allow for flexible or emergent methods and rely on principles of action. If you are using a flexible approach, you need to document what you've done and justify your actions.<sup>42</sup> Multi-year chronic disease prevention evaluations may require adaptations as contexts, resources, stakeholders, information needs and secondary data sources change. In these cases, you need to demonstrate how the deviations from the plan still align with the principles on which the approach is based.

#### **Quality Standard**

All modifications to the evaluation plan must be documented and justified. For flexible evaluation approaches, the methods employed and the reasons for choosing those methods must also be documented.

## Making Conclusions and Recommendations

Data collection and analysis are not enough to answer your evaluation questions. You need to interpret the findings from your analyses, put them into context, make judgements and offer

suggestions for the future of the program or intervention.<sup>44</sup> All four components of evaluative thinking are important here:

- You need to think *critically* about what the data is telling you and what it's *not* telling you.
- Inferential thinking is necessary to make evaluative conclusions about the program or intervention based on the evidence found.
- *Creative and practical thinking* help you formulate (ideally in collaboration with your evaluation users) appropriate recommendations based on your conclusions.<sup>10</sup>

Interpreting your findings starts with looking at the data and the reason for your evaluation. Let's say data you collected six weeks after a community mobilization intervention started revealed that 20% of the eligible voters you sampled support constructing protected bike lanes in the downtown core. Is that good or bad? The answer: it depends on the evaluation questions. If one of your questions asked about the effectiveness of your intervention at increasing eligible voters' support over time, then you would compare these results to the results from the data collected from the same sample prior to the intervention. If there is a positive and statistically significant increase from pre- to post-intervention, then the results are good. If not, then the results are bad.

If one of your evaluation questions asked whether or not your intervention generated enough support to convince decision makers to construct protected bike lanes in the downtown core, you would interpret your results in a different way. Ideally, you would have identified the required amount of support your intervention needs to generate *before* collecting data. If not, you definitely need to identify the amount of support the intervention needs to generate before you can interpret the results. If your intervention produced more than the required amount of support, you could conclude that the result is "good." On the other hand, if your intervention does not achieve the required amount of support, your results are bad. Without these comparisons, you can't justify any conclusions that your intervention was successful or recommend what changes to make (if any) to the intervention moving forward.

The evaluation matrix you created during the design phase will help you determine what data needs to be analyzed and synthesized to answer each evaluation question. You should also consult previous research and/or evaluation evidence to determine if your evaluation findings are consistent with their findings. If they are inconsistent with other evidence, you should also

use this evidence to figure out why those inconsistencies might exist. Taking all that information together, you can then make conclusions that align with your evaluation's purpose. For chronic disease prevention evaluations, you could find yourself trying to interpret a lot of seemingly ambiguous or disparate findings. Evaluative thinking helps think about what you have learned about each evaluation question separately and what each answer contributes to your understanding of the program or intervention as a whole so that you can make conclusions about it.

Let's say the purpose of the evaluation of the community mobilization intervention described above was to determine if the intervention should continue next year. The amount of eligible voters who support constructing protected bike lanes in the downtown core might be interpreted as "good," but it doesn't necessarily tell you if intervention is worth continuing. Findings from the data used to answer other evaluation questions may be interpreted as "bad" or "inconclusive" and you may find evidence that community mobilization interventions are only effective at increasing voter support for an issue for a short period of time. Thinking critically about how much each answer to your evaluation questions should be weighted in your conclusion and following the evidence (thinking inferentially)<sup>10</sup> might lead you to the conclusion that, despite the good voter support, the intervention should not continue next year.

Your evaluation approaches and methods limit what you are able to conclude about your program or intervention. For example, you cannot conclude that your program or intervention *caused* a change in your target population or audience if you did not use an experimental approach like randomized controlled trials.<sup>41</sup> The intersectoral, multifaceted and collaborative nature of chronic disease prevention work makes it hard to attribute outcomes to a particular program or intervention, so your conclusions are more likely to be about how your work *contributed* to the outcomes, rather than how they *caused* them. Similarly, the diversity and representativeness of your sample places limits on your ability to conclude that your findings are generalizable or transferable to other groups or contexts.<sup>46,72</sup>

Recommendations are important for the "learning and decision-making"<sup>1</sup> portions of evaluation. The purpose of the evaluation tells you what your recommendations should focus on.<sup>41</sup> For example, if the purpose of your formative evaluation is to determine how best to communicate with your target audience, making recommendations about communication channels and products is appropriate, but recommendations about re-orienting health services are likely out of scope. Recommendations from chronic disease prevention evaluations can have long-lasting consequences. Divesting from a program or intervention may impact population health in ways and degrees that may not be seen for several years. Therefore, your recommendations should be feasible; be grounded in the evaluation findings, research evidence and theory; and mitigate against potential negative consequences of acting on them.<sup>30,42</sup> Because of the collaborative nature of chronic disease prevention work, it might be beneficial to use a participatory process during this stage. This process will ensure your recommendations have incorporated the expertise and perspectives of people who may need to implement the recommendations and help promote agreement on the recommendations and support their implementation.<sup>38</sup> Figure 7 depicts the process of moving from findings to conclusions to recommendations. Good recommendations are specific, actionable and feasible. They should be easy enough for evaluation users to implement, but not insignificant enough to be dismissed. Think of recommendations as the catalyst for mobilizing actual use.



#### Figure 7. Moving from Findings to Conclusions

#### **Quality Standard**

All conclusions and recommendations must be grounded in the evaluation findings and the context in which the program and intervention is delivered. Conclusions must align with the philosophical underpinnings and limitations of the approach(es) and methods you employed. Recommendations should be related to the purpose of the evaluation.

## Spreading the Word: Use Evaluation

Completing an evaluation marks the beginning of a critical next step – dissemination of your results to evaluation users to ensure your hard work is recognized and utilized in practice. Evaluation is not just about studying the program or intervention and answering questions about it – it's also about using the findings and conclusions to learn and make decisions. This concept is embedded in the definition of evaluation, signifying its importance. However, getting people and organizations to use evaluation findings to improve programs and interventions can be just as hard as doing one. This section highlights how you should think about sharing your chronic disease prevention evaluation findings, conclusions and recommendations in ways that promote their use.

## **Engaging Evaluation Users**

**Evaluation users** are the people who learn from and act on evaluation findings. Including stakeholders throughout the evaluation process improves evaluation use.<sup>75</sup> Ideally, you have engaged most of your potential evaluation users throughout the designing and doing phases of your evaluation. However, your evaluation may have produced findings that you hadn't anticipated, and you now need to engage new people or organizations. For example, if your evaluation revealed that an intervention previously tested in only one target population is effective for another, other health units and researchers could use your evaluation stage also improves evaluation use.<sup>75</sup> Factors affecting evaluation use are described in Table 6. You should consider the impact of these factors on your specific evaluation users as you develop your key messages, choose communication channels and design communication products.

No matter when they are first engaged, it's important that you take the time to understand the evaluation users' information needs and communication preferences<sup>30,75</sup> to ensure the right information is provided to the right audience at the right time and in the most effective ways. Chronic disease prevention evaluations include a wide range of stakeholders and, therefore, a wide range of evaluation users whose characteristics, needs and preferences could vary widely. It's important to understand "who needs what" to move your evaluation's recommendations

#### Table 6. Factors Affecting Evaluation Use<sup>76</sup>

Category	Description
User factors	How the person thinks and feels about evaluation in general and your specific evaluation, as well as the degree of commitment they have to using the evaluation's findings.
Evaluator factors	The degree to which the person or people responsible for designing and conducting the evaluation: is/are committed to promoting its use; is/are seen as credible by potential users; built strong relationships with potential users; and engaged potential users throughout the evaluation.
Evaluation factors	The characteristics of the evaluation and the communication about it, including: the perceived credibility and appropriateness of its methods to the users; the degree to which users' learning and decision-making needs were met; the timeliness of communication; the degree to which the users understand the communication; and the degree to which the evaluation findings align with other sources of knowledge about the program or intervention.
Organizational and social factors	The context within which the program or intervention is being delivered, including: autonomy; inter-agency agreements; how long the program or intervention has been running; and the degree of alignment between the evaluation findings and other information sources about the program or intervention.

forward effectively. Even though the objectives you have for two users or groups may be the same, you may need to use different channels to reach them and different messages to get their attention.<sup>77</sup> For example, one of your recommendations may be to increase the reach of your intervention by expanding the number of recreation subsidies to additional groups of people. In this case, you may want both municipalities and private companies to provide and/or fund those subsidies. Although you can reach municipal decision-makers through presentations at committee meetings and council delegations, you will need different strategies, such as

business cases and one-on-one pitch meetings, to reach managers and administrators of private companies.

## **Knowledge Translation Plans**

A **knowledge translation (KT) plan** (also called a knowledge exchange plan or knowledge mobilization plan) acts as a roadmap for how you will make your target audiences pay attention to and act on your evaluation findings and recommendations. Preparing a KT plan in advance of the completion of your evaluation ensures timely and intentional dissemination of your findings. Like an evaluation matrix, a KT plan matches your target audiences and communication objectives with the messages, channels and products you need to employ to get them to use your evaluation; you should also include roles, responsibilities and timelines in your KT plan to ensure the work is completed.<sup>78</sup> As with all public health efforts, you need to attend to cultural needs and health equity concerns when creating KT plans.

To facilitate use of your findings, think about your KT plan like a program and its components as interventions. Instead of a population health change, your KT plan's goal is to have the people



you want to use your evaluation findings use them in the ways you want them to.<sup>79(p.1)</sup> Those intended uses should relate back to your evaluation purpose and conclusions. Your KT interventions should draw on evidence you gather from engaging your potential evaluation users, research and your professional experience. If the target audiences within each of your interventions require different

channels, messages and products, make sure to note it in the plan. KT plans for chronic disease prevention evaluations can be complex and labour intensive because of the number and variety of potential evaluation users. To ensure your evaluation is used in the ways you intend it to be used, you need to invest time, effort and resources in developing and implementing high-quality KT plans.

#### **Quality Standard**



All evaluation findings should be shared with relevant evaluation users in ways that are evidence-based and that promote the use of the findings.

## Conclusion

Hopefully this Guidebook has helped you identify strategies for understanding how your programs and interventions work, who they work for, and how to make them work better. If you take one thing away from this Guidebook, let it be this: rigorous evaluations start from the first moment you think about a chronic disease prevention program or intervention – before it's even close to being implemented. If you start thinking evaluatively from the beginning, your programs and interventions are more likely to be evaluable, your evaluation purpose and questions are easier to define, the methods you should use are clearer, and the results are more easily interpreted and used.

As you continue to plan, implement and evaluate your chronic disease prevention programs and interventions, we hope you return to this Guidebook and the other CDP-EvaLL products to support your work. You can find all the CDP-EvaLL products here: www.ophen.ca/cdp-evall.

## Glossary

**Activity** is a specific application of health promotion strategies (e.g., education, supplementation, community mobilization and environmental redesign) carried out as part of an intervention

**Assent** is the agreement of a potential participant who is unable to consent to participating in an evaluation<sup>70</sup>

**Data analysis protocol** is a set of directions that describe how you will treat the data once they are collected

**Data collection protocol** is a set of directions that describe how you will obtain the data needed for your evaluation

**Dissent** is the refusal of a potential participant who is unable to consent to participating in an evaluation<sup>70</sup>

Effect size is the magnitude of the change produced by your program or intervention

**Evaluability assessment** is an ongoing, iterative process that can be done informally or formally to examine whether or not your program or intervention can feasibly and usefully be evaluated

**Evaluation** "is the systematic assessment of the design, implementation or results of an initiative for the purposes of learning or decision-making"<sup>1</sup>

**Evaluation approach** is "an integrated package of options (methods or processes)"<sup>45</sup> that help you achieve your evaluation purpose and answer your evaluation questions

Evaluation matrix is a tool to document how you will answer your evaluation questions

**Evaluation purpose** is the overarching reason you decided to evaluate your program or intervention<sup>41</sup>

**Evaluation question** is the thing you need to answer to achieve your evaluation purpose; it is *not* the questions you ask of people, organizations or documents to collect data<sup>30</sup>

Evaluation user is a person or organization who learns from and acts on evaluation findings

**Evaluative thinking** is "critical thinking applied in the context of evaluation, motivated by an attitude of inquisitiveness and a belief in the value of evidence, that involves identifying assumptions, posing thoughtful questions, pursuing deeper understanding through reflection and perspective taking, and informing decisions in preparation for action"<sup>9</sup>

**Feasibility** is a judgement about the ability of your organization to do the evaluation in the way that you are proposing

**Formative evaluation** is the process of assessing how to design or re-design a program or intervention<sup>2</sup>

**Goal** is the high-level change (or long-term outcome) that the program will achieve<sup>6</sup> through the execution of its interventions

**Indicator** is "a specific, observable and measurable accomplishment or change that shows the progress made toward achieving a specific output or outcome"<sup>29</sup>

**Intervention** is a group of planned activities linked together by theory<sup>5</sup> and supported by evidence to produce individual- and community-level changes in a target population

**Intervention theory** is a description of how your particular set of activities will lead to the intended or actual outcomes needed to achieve your intervention objective(s)

**Knowledge translation (KT) plan** is a set of directions for how you will disseminate the evaluation findings and recommendations to promote their use

**Logic model** is "a picture of how your organization does its work – the theory and assumptions underlying the program"<sup>19(p.III)</sup> or intervention

**Measure** is a quantitative and qualitative piece of information you are collecting to learn about your program or intervention

**Objective** is a specific population or public health change among target populations that will lead to the achievement of the program's goal<sup>5</sup>

**Outcomes** are the incremental changes in attitudes, knowledge, skills, behaviours, environments and policies<sup>8</sup> that lead to the achievement of your objectives

Outputs are tangible things produced by your activities<sup>7</sup>

Plausibility is a judgement about the likelihood that your evaluation questions can be answered

Primary data source is a set of data collected for your specific evaluation

**Priority population** is a group of people "experiencing and/or at increased risk of poor health outcomes due to the burden of disease and/or factors for disease; the determinants of health, including the social determinants of health; and/or the intersection between them"<sup>11</sup>

Process evaluation is an assessment of how a program or intervention is implemented<sup>3</sup>

**Program** is a group of interventions linked together through theory and supported by evidence to produce a population-level change in a population health or public health issue

Program theory is an explanation of how your intervention objectives will achieve your goal<sup>15,16</sup>

**Proportionate universalism** is an approach to resource allocation whereby everyone receives some degree of intervention but the degree of intervention is dependent upon their need or disadvantage<sup>28</sup>

Sample is the subset of your target population or target audience you will collect data from

**Secondary data source** is an existing dataset collected for a different purpose than your evaluation

**Summative evaluation** is the process of assessing whether a program or intervention achieved its intended results and the initiative's value<sup>4</sup>

Target audience is the group of people you are trying to engage in your intervention activities<sup>27</sup>

**Target population** is the group of people in which you are trying to produce a population or public health outcome<sup>26</sup>

**Theoretical saturation** is the point at which your data collection returns no new information, and you can define and describe the properties variations of the phenomenon you are studying, as well as the relationships it has with other phenomena<sup>62</sup>

**Theory of change** is a causal framework that articulates how and why a complex change process will occur over time in a particular context and/or a process that brings together key stakeholders and engages them in an outcomes-focused, rigorous, and participatory process to plan the design, implementation, and evaluation of a complex change initiative<sup>17,21,22</sup>

## References

- Canadian Evaluation Society. What is evaluation? [Internet]. Renfrew, Ontario: Canadian Evaluation Society; 2014 [cited 2020 Jan 3]. Available from: https://evaluationcanada.ca/what-is-evaluation
- 2. Mathison S. Formative evaluation. In: Mathison S., editor. Encyclopedia of evaluation [Internet]. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2005 [cited 2020 Jan 3]
- 3. Mathison S. Process evaluation. In: Mathison S., editor. Encyclopedia of evaluation [Internet]. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2005 [cited 2020 Jan 3]
- Development Assistance Committee. Glossary of key terms in evaluation and results-based management [Internet]. Paris, France: OECD; 2002 [cited 2020 Jan 3]. Available from: https://www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation/2754804.pdf
- 5. McKenzie JF, Neiger BL, Thackeray R. Planning, implementing, and evaluating health promotion programs: a primer. San Francisco, CA: Pearson/Benjamin Cummings; 2005.
- 6. Tucker JG. Goal. In: Mathison S., editor. Encyclopedia of evaluation [Internet]. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2005 [cited 2020 Jan 3].
- Mark M. Outputs. In: Mathison S., editor. Encyclopedia of evaluation [Internet]. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2005 [cited 2020 Jan 3].
- Mathison S. Outcomes. In: Mathison S., editor. Encyclopedia of evaluation [Internet]. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2005 [cited 2020 Jan 3].
- 9. Buckley J, Archibald T, Hargraves M, Trochim WM. Defining and teaching evaluative thinking: Insights from research on critical thinking. Am J Eval. 2015;36(3):375-88.
- 10. Patton MQ. A historical perspective on the evolution of evaluative thinking. New Dir Eval. 2018;2018(158):11-28.
- 11. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Health equity guideline, 2018 [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queens Printer for Ontario; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 2]. Available from:

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph\_standards/docs/protocols\_gu idelines/Health\_Equity\_Guideline\_2018\_en.pdf

- Ontario Dietitians in Public Health. Ontario dietitians in public health: health and wellbeing philosophy and approach to weight [Internet]. Ontario: Ontario Dietitians in Public Health; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 10]. Available from https://www.odph.ca/upload/membership/document/2018-06/odph-version-of-health-andwellbeing-approach-final.pdf
- National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools. Evidence-informed decision making [Internet]. Hamilton, ON: McMaster University; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 10]. Available from https://www.nccmt.ca/uploads/media/0001/01/d9f5cec8637db62f8edda6a6a2551b29 3a053ede.pdf
- Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Chapter 2: theory, research, and practice in health behavior. In Health behavior: theory, research, and practice. 5<sup>th</sup> ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2015.
- 15. Funnell SC, Rogers PJ. Purposeful program theory: effective use of theories of change and logic models. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass/Wiley; 2011.
- Rogers P. Develop programme theory/theory of change [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/rainbow\_framework/define/develop\_programme\_theory
- 17. James C. Theory of change review: a report commissioned by Comic Relief. Comic Relief; 2011. Available from: https://www.actknowledge.org/resources/documents/James\_ToC.pdf
- 18. Clark H, Anderson AA. Theories of change and logic models: telling them apart [Internet]. presented at: American Evaluation Association Conference. 2004 Nov [cited 2020 Feb 14]; Atlanta, GA. Available from: https://www.theoryofchange.org/wpcontent/uploads/toco\_library/pdf/TOCs\_and\_Logic\_Models\_forAEA.pdf
- WK Kellogg Foundation. W.K. Kellogg Foundation logic model development guide [Internet]. Battle Creek, MI: WK Kellogg Foundation; 2004 [cited 2020 Feb 14]. Available from https://www.wkkf.org/resource-directory/resource/2006/02/wk-kellogg-foundation-logicmodel-development-guide

- 20. Breuer E, Lee L, De Silva M, Lund C. Using theory of change to design and evaluate public health interventions: a systematic review. Implementation Science. 2016;11(63): 1-17.
- Vogel I. Review of the use of 'theory of change' in international development: review report [Internet]. London, UK: UK Department of International Development; 2012 [cited 2020 Feb 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.theoryofchange.org/pdf/DFID\_ToC\_Review\_VogelV7.pdf</u>
- 22. Taplin DH, Clark H, Collins E, Colby DC. Theory of change technical papers: a series of papers to support development of theories of change based on practice in the field [Internet]. New York, NY: ActKnowledge; 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 14]. Available from: https://www.theoryofchange.org/wp-content/uploads/toco\_library/pdf/ToC-Tech-Papers.pdf
- 23. Ontario. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Chronic disease prevention guideline, 2018 [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queens Printer for Ontario; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 2]. Available from: http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph\_standards/docs/protocols\_gu idelines/Health\_Equity\_Guideline\_2018\_en.pdf
- 24. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Health at key stages of life the lifecourse approach to public health [Internet]. Copenhagen, DK: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2011 [cited 2020 Feb 12]. Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Life-stages/healthy-ageing/activities/health-at-keystages-of-life-the-life-course-approach-to-public-health
- 25. World Health Organization. The Ottawa charter for health promotion. First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986 [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1986 [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/
- 26. Chinman M, Imm P, Wandersman A. Getting to outcomes<sup>™</sup> 2004: promoting accountability through methods and tools for planning, implementation, and evaluation. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2004 [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.rand.org/pubs/technical\_reports/TR101.html
- 27. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). Planning health promotion programs: introductory workbook. 5th ed. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018

- 28. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Lu D, Tyler I. Focus on: A proportionate approach to priority populations [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2015 [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/focus-on-prioritypopulations.pdf?la=en
- National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention. Developing evaluation indicators [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control; nd [cited 2020 Feb 10]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/std/Program/pupestd/Developing%20Evaluation%20Indicators.pdf
- 30. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Snelling S, Meserve A. Evaluating health promotion programs: introductory workbook [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2016 [cited 2020 Feb 10]. Available from: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/evaluating-hp-programsworkbook.pdf?la=en
- 31. Peersman G, Guijt I, Pasanen T. Evaluability assessment for impact evaluation: guidance, checklists and decision support. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute; 2015 [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odiassets/publications-opinion-files/9802.pdf
- 32. Leviton LC, Khan LK, Rog D, Dawkins N, Cotton D. Evaluability assessment to improve public health policies, programs, and practices. Annu Rev Public Health. 2010;31: 213-233.
- 33. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Meserve A, Mensah G. Focus on: evaluability assessment – a step model [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/focus-on-evaluabilityassessment.pdf?la=en
- 34. Onyura B. Revisiting the Weiss question on theory-based evaluation: which links in which theories do we evaluate and why? [webinar recording]. Renfrew, ON: Canadian Evaluation Society; 2020 Feb 12 [cited 2020 Feb 15]. Available from https://vimeo.com/391502414

- 35. Marchal B, Van Belle S, Westhorp G, Peersman G. Realist evaluation [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia; BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 16]. Available from https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/approach/realist\_evaluation
- 36. Chaiton M, Diemert L, Cohen JE, Bondy SJ, Selby P, Philipneri A, Schwartz R. Estimating the number of quit attempts it takes to quit smoking successfully in a longitudinal cohort of smokers. BMJ Open. 2016;6(6):e011045. Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/bmjopen/6/6/e011045.full.pdf
- 37. Borland R, Partos TR, Yong HH, Cummings KM, Hyland A. How much unsuccessful quitting activity is going on among adult smokers? data from the international tobacco control four country cohort survey. Addiction. 2012;107:673-682.
- 38. Guijt I. Participatory Approaches. Methodological Briefs: Impact Evaluation 5. Florence, Italy: UNICEF Office of Research; 2014 [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.unicefirc.org/publications/pdf/brief\_5\_participatoryapproaches\_eng.pdf
- 39. Sette C. Participatory evaluation [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd. Available from https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/plan/approach/participatory\_evaluation
- 40. Gawler M. Useful tools for engaging young people in participatory evaluation. New York, NY: UNICEF CEE/CIS Regional Office; 2005 [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://issuu.com/learneasy/docs/tools-for-participatory-evaluation
- 41. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health. Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity. Developing an effective evaluation plan. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011 [cited 2020 Feb 20]. Available from https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/cdc-evaluation-workbook-508.pdf
- 42. Canadian Evaluation Society. Program evaluation standards [Internet]. Renfrew, ON: Canadian Evaluation Society; 2014 [cited 2020 Feb 11]. Available from https://evaluationcanada.ca/program-evaluation-standards
- 43. Issel, LM. Health program planning and evaluation: a practical, systematic approach for community health. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2014.

- 44. WK Kellogg Foundation. The step-by-step guide to evaluation: how to become savvy evaluation customers [Internet]. Battle Creek, MI: W.K. Kellogg Foundation; 2017 [cited 2020 Feb 19]. Available from: http://ww2.wkkf.org/digital/evaluationguide/files/downloads/WKKF\_StepByStepGuideToEval uation.pdf
- 45. BetterEvaluation. Approaches [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/approaches
- 46. McKenzie JF, Neiger BL, Thackeray R. Planning, implementing, and evaluating health promotion programs: a primer. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. San Francisco, CA: Benjamin Cummings; 2005
- 47. Roberts K. Appreciative inquiry [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/plan/approach/appreciative\_inquiry
- 48. BetterEvaluation. Utlization-focused evaluation [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia:
  BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from:
  https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/plan/approach/utilization\_focused\_evaluation
- 49. Dart J, Davies R. A dialogical, story-based evaluation tool: the most significant change technique. Am J Eval. 2003;24(2):137–155.
- 50. USAID LEARN. The evaluation design matrix: templates [Internet]. Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development – Bureau for Policy, Planning and Learning; 2015 Jul [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from https://usaidlearninglab.org/sites/default/files/resource/files/evaluation\_design\_matrix\_templ ates.pdf
- 51. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, De La Fuente J R, Grant M. (1993). Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. Addiction. 1993;88(6):791-804.
- 52. Butt P, Beirness D, Gliksman L, Paradis C, Stockwell T. Alcohol and health in Canada: A summary of evidence and guidelines for low-risk drinking [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse; 2011 [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from

https://www.uvic.ca/research/centres/cisur/assets/docs/report-alcohol-and-health-incanada.pdf

- 53. Neiger B, Thackeray R, Van Wagenen S, Hanson C, West J, Barnes M, Fagen M. (2012). Use of social media in health promotion: purposes, key performance indicators, and evaluation metrics. Health Promot Pract. 2012;13(2):159–164.
- 54. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Step by step evaluating violence and injury prevention policies. Brief 3: evaluating policy content [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2013 [cited 2020 Nov 27]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/injury/pdfs/policy/Brief%203-a.pdf
- 55. BetterEvaluation. Collect and/or retrieve data [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/rainbow\_framework/describe/collect\_retrieve\_data
- 56. Ialomiteanu AR, Hamilton HA, Adlaf EM, Mann RE. (2018). CAMH monitor e-report: substance use, mental health and well-being among Ontario adults, 1977–2017 (CAMH Research Document Series No. 48). Toronto, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from: https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdfs---camhmonitor/camh-monitor-2017-ereport-finalpdf.pdf?la=en&hash=A411E25BB4E8838EE41F89D46799C3E527352B21
- 57. Boak A, Elton-Marshall T, Mann RE, Hamilton HA. Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2019: Detailed findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS). Toronto, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health; 2020 [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from: https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdf---osduhs/drugusereport\_2019osduhspdf.pdf?la=en&hash=7F149240451E7421C3991121AEAD630F21B13784
- 58. Centers for Disease Control. Creating an analysis plan [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from https://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/healthprotection/fetp/training\_modules/9/creating-analysisplan\_pw\_final\_09242013.pdf
- 59. Health System Intelligence Project. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. The health planner's toolkit. Module 6: evaluation [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario;

2008 [cited 2020 Feb 21]. Available from:

http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/22000/283845.pdf

- 60. Charmaz K. Grounded theory. In Hesse-Biber SN, Leavy P, editors. Approaches to qualitative research: a reader on theory and practice. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- 61. CCO and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). The burden of chronic diseases in Ontario: key estimates to support efforts in prevention [Internet]. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2019 [cited 2020 Feb 22]. Available from https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/cdburden-report.pdf?la=en
- 62. Bryman A, Teevan JJ. Social research methods: Canadian edition. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- 63. Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of clinical research: application to practice. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall Health; 2000.
- 64. Cushing CC, Brannon EE, Suorsa KI, Wilson DK. Systematic review and meta-analysis of health promotion interventions for children and adolescents using an ecological framework. J Pediatr Psychol. 2014;39(8):949–962
- 65. Compernolle S, DeSmet A, Poppe L, Crombez G, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G, van der Ploeg HP, Van Dyck D. Effectiveness of interventions using self-monitoring to reduce sedentary behavior in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2019;16(1):63-78.
- 66. Villa-González E, Barranco-Ruiz Y, Evenson KR, Chillón P. Systematic review of interventions for promoting active school transport. Prev Med. 2018;111:115-34.
- 67. Samdal G, Eide G, Barth T, Williams G, & Meland E. Effective behaviour change techniques for physical activity and healthy eating in overweight and obese adults; systematic review and meta-regression analyses. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14(1):42-55.
- 68. Sullivan GM, Feinn R. Using effect size or why the p value is not enough. J Grad Med Educ. 2012;4(3):279–282

- 69. BetterEvaluation. Case study [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 22]. Available from https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/plan/approach/case\_study
- 70. Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada and Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. Tri-council policy statement: ethical conduct for research involving humans [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Secretariat on Responsible Conduct of Research; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 12]. Available from: https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf
- 71. Canadian Evaluation Society. Ethics [Internet]. Renfrew, ON: Canadian Evaluation Society; 2014 [cited 2020 Feb 11]. Available from https://evaluationcanada.ca/ethics
- 72. Morrow SL. Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. J Couns Psychol. 2005;52(2):250-260.
- 73. BetterEvaluation. Developmental evaluation [Internet]. Melbourne, Australia: BetterEvaluation; nd [cited 2020 Feb 22]. Available from https://www.betterevaluation.org/en/plan/approach/developmental\_evaluation
- 74. Dozois E, Langlois M, Blanchet-Cohen N. DE 201: a practitioner's guide to developmental evaluation [Internet]. Montreal, QC: The J.W. McConnell Family Foundation and the International Institute for Child Rights and Development; 2010 [cited 2020 Feb 22]. Available from https://mcconnellfoundation.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/DE-201-EN.pdf
- 75. Johnson K, Greenseid LO, Toal SA, King JA, Lawrenz F, Volkov B. Research on evaluation use: A review of the empirical literature from 1986 to 2005. Am J Eval, 2009;30:377–410.
- 76. Alkin MC, King JA. Definitions of evaluation use and misuse, evaluation influence, and factors affecting use. Am J Eval. 2017;38(3):434-50.
- 77. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). At a glance: 12 steps for developing a health communication campaign. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018 [cited 2020 Feb 24]. Available from https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/health-topics/public-health-practice/health-communication-aag

- 78. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Evaluation reporting: a guide to help ensure use of evaluation findings. Atlanta, GA: US Dept of Health and Human Services; 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 24]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/docs/Evaluation\_Reporting\_Guide.pdf
- 79. Ramirez R, Brodhead D, Solomon C, Kumar-Range S, Zaveri S, Earl S, Smith M. Utilization focused evaluation: A primer for evaluators. Penang, Malaysia: Southbound; 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 24]. Available from https://evaluationinpractice.files.wordpress.com/2013/04/ufeenglishprimer.pdf



#### Southwestern Public Health

www.swpublichealth.ca St. Thomas Site 1230 Talbot Street St. Thomas, ON N5P 1G9

Woodstock Site 410 Buller Street Woodstock, ON N4S 4N2